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            For our parents, Liz and Brendan Ryan, Carmel O’Connor, and especially the late Brendan O’Connor, who was proof that all things are possible to those who believe.

         

         

      

   


   
      

         
            PROLOGUE

         

         ‘What have we done, what have we fucking done?’ Leo Varadkar disbelievingly asked one of his closest advisers.

         ‘You’ve done it, you’ve fucking done it, you’re going to be Taoiseach,’ a beaming Philip O’Callaghan responded.

         ‘Fucking hell,’ Varadkar added in a state of shock.

         It was 2 June 2017 and Varadkar was sitting in the drawing room of the Mansion House on Dawson Street in Dublin city centre. Outside the door of the room, hundreds of Fine Gael supporters were anxiously waiting for their new leader to take to the stage. The Fine Gael leadership contest was a competition he had been expected to win comfortably. But that didn’t make the victory any less surreal.

         As he prepared to address his party, Varadkar considered how far he had come. Indeed, how far Ireland had come. After ten years serving as a national politician, he was now to become the leader of the country – the same country his Indian-born father had decided to make his home more than four decades earlier. A country steeped in Catholic tradition that had welcomed Leo Varadkar with open arms when he became the first Cabinet minister to publicly declare he was gay. Within months of coming out, Varadkar had been emboldened further by an emphatic referendum victory for LGBT rights, which had paved the way for same-sex marriage in Ireland. This small island country had come on a long journey, and Varadkar was more than just a passenger on the trip.

         Thirty minutes earlier, Varadkar and his team had marched triumphantly through the television cameras and photographers into the Mansion House, where he was greeted by rapturous applause from supporters. Without a second’s thought, he embraced Minister for Housing Simon Coveney, whom he had convincingly defeated to become leader of Fine Gael. Coveney could not have had any complaints about coming second. He had been outmanoeuvred at virtually every turn by an opponent who was obsessed with becoming Taoiseach.

         Varadkar personally thanked his closest supporters before he was hoisted above their shoulders among a sea of placards bearing his name. Once returned to the ground, he sought out his father Ashok, mother Miriam and sister Sophie. Then he turned to his partner Matthew Barrett and they embraced as the camera flashes lit up the auditorium. Varadkar wanted to share his victory with those who meant most to him.

         Soon after making his grand entrance, he was whisked away into the drawing room, where he took calls from international dignitaries who wished him well in his new job. He took a few moments to gather himself, a few deep breaths. He would have to wait a couple of weeks before he was formally appointed Taoiseach. For now, he had to address his party.

         Standing on the podium in the Mansion House’s Round Room, Varadkar said, ‘If my election shows anything, it’s that prejudice has no hold in this Republic.’ He continued:

         
            Around the world people look to Ireland to be reminded that this is a country where it doesn’t matter where you come from, but rather where you want to go. I know when my father travelled 5,000 miles to build a new home in Ireland, I doubt he ever dreamed that his son would one day grow up to be its leader. And that despite his difference his son would be treated the same and judged by his actions and character, not his origins or identity. And so every proud parent in Ireland today can dream big dreams for their children. Every boy and girl can know that there is no limit to their ambition, to their possibilities, if they’re given the opportunity.

            Let that be our mission in Fine Gael, to build in Ireland a republic of opportunity, one in which every individual has the opportunity to realise their potential and every part of the country is given its opportunity to share in our prosperity.

         

         Varadkar’s path to this point of his career was no accident. His accession to the highest office in the state was executed carefully and methodically. He shook off the taunts of schoolyard bullies and overcame the nagging feeling of being an outsider to become a poll-topping politician. He also fought hard to win over colleagues who considered him too erratic and aloof to lead the country’s largest political party.

         However, he also made enemies along the way. Internal party rows over policy and strategy did not endear him to everyone. Politicians and backroom advisers he had clashed with would be looking on with keen interest as Varadkar was handed the reins of government. The minister who ‘knew best’ would now have to prove that, in fact, he did. There would be no more hiding behind others. The buck stopped with him.

         Varadkar’s appointment as leader of Fine Gael and, ultimately, Taoiseach was met with nervous caution across Irish society. For years, he had been painted as representing the right-wing heart of Fine Gael; a politician desperate to force his conservative views on an increasingly liberal country. He had carved out a niche in his early years by tapping into Fine Gael’s traditional voter base. He was anti-abortion, had reservations about same-sex marriage and pushed a low-tax agenda. Opposition politicians branded him a ‘Tory boy’ in reference to the UK’s Conservative Party. They also drew comparisons between Varadkar and America’s ultra-conservative Tea Party.

         All this was before he was given the keys to the exchequer. The outspoken minister who had regularly criticised his own government was now in charge. And the young boy who had always felt like an outsider in his youth was now very much on the inside.

      

   


   
      

         
            CHAPTER 1

            ASHOK MEETS MIRIAM

         

         Standing out among eight other siblings was never going to be easy for Ashok Varadkar. He was the baby of the family and desperate for his parents to be as proud of him as they were of his brothers and sisters.

         Upon completing secondary school, Ashok enrolled in Bombay’s Grant Medical College, where he studied day and night to become the first doctor in the Varadkar family. After years of toil and graft, he passed his exams and took up employment at one of the local hospitals. But Ashok had itchy feet. He wanted a different life – the chance to explore the world before settling down to raise a family in Bombay.

         In the 1960s, India was still adjusting to sovereignty, having freed itself from British colonial rule little more than a decade earlier. Even with the British gone, India was still an extremely divided society. Large swathes of the country were ravished by famine and poverty, while the ruling government was distracted by border wars with Pakistan and China.

         Luckily for Ashok, his medical degree was a passport and a visa all rolled into one. It didn’t take him long to save up enough money to pay for his escape route out of India and he set his sights on the far side of the world. In the local travel agent’s, he booked a one-way ticket to Britain. Ashok returned to his parents’ home to pack his bags for a journey that, unbeknown to him, would shape the political landscape of a small island country on the edge of Europe half a century later.

         Ireland was not in Ashok’s thoughts as he boarded the plane. In fact, neither was Britain, really. The young doctor’s dream was to become a paediatrician in one of America’s top hospitals. England was supposed to be just a stepping stone. The Indian government had introduced laws preventing doctors from emigrating to the US for better-paid jobs. The country was experiencing a significant brain drain at the time, due to the exodus of well-educated medics. Before the state intervened, doctors could sit US medical exams in India before moving on to take up lucrative roles in American hospitals. The new laws put an end to this, but Ashok was determined to reach the United States, regardless of what it would take. The gateway was Europe, where Indian doctors could still sit the exams and get around their government’s clampdown.

         Unlike the vast majority of emigrants in the twentieth century, money was not the driving force behind Ashok’s decision to leave India. Similarly, he did not believe he was saying goodbye to his country for good. As is the case in most countries, doctors need to build up a wealth of international knowledge if they are to be considered for top consultancy jobs in their home states. Ashok therefore hoped that with a few years’ experience in the US health system under his belt, he would one day settle back in India.

         As he relaxed into that long-haul flight to Britain, Ashok must have thought back to the journey his family had made from their ancestral home in the small rural village of Varad, some 300 kilometres north of Bombay, on India’s west coast. Ashok’s parents, Vithal and Rukmunia, had moved to Borivali in Bombay, which later became known as Mumbai, before he was born. But their roots were in the small rural village of Varad. Ashok’s father earned a good living working for the Indian postal service, which ensured his family of four boys and five girls could all go to university if they so wished. The boys were Madhu, Manohar, Avi and Ashok, and their five sisters were Vinal, Kalyani, Prabha, Shanau and Meena.

         The family considered themselves middle class by Indian standards. They had a comfortable living and could afford to hire servants and cleaners. It was a far cry from the conditions experienced by millions of their fellow Indians in the shanty towns spread across the country. However, Vithal and Rukmunia never forgot their humble roots in rural India and retired to the village before their youngest son had finished his education.

         When Ashok’s parents left for Varad, it fell to the family’s eldest sibling Madhu to become the head of the household in Mumbai. Madhu, or Bhai (big brother), as he was known to his siblings, was a father figure to Ashok for most of his formative years. Madhu trained as a barrister and, as is normal with large Indian families, contributed financially towards the household budget once he was practising law. During his university years, he also became involved in the Indian independence movement. He was drawn by the energy of the civil unrest and protests aimed at ridding India of British rule.

         Manohar, who is the second eldest of the Varadkar siblings, studied science in university and landed a plum job on India’s atomic energy board. He too became enthralled by the spirit and courage of the freedom movement and joined his eldest brother on marches. Both men were very active during the uprising and neither was afraid to lead street demonstrations against the British. But, as a result of their involvement, the two brothers were arrested, and each spent a year in prison. They were considered political prisoners, and family members say they had few complaints about the conditions of their confinement or treatment at the hands of prison guards.

         Vithal Varadkar was extremely proud of his two eldest sons, as were all the family. Risking life and freedom in pursuit of independence was looked upon with a great sense of pride by most Indian families. When India eventually broke free from the British Empire, both Madhu and Manohar were decorated for their efforts during the uprising. Their sister Prabha also played a role in the independence movement and marched in demonstrations against Portuguese colonialism in Goa.

         Madhu is described by his family as a ‘social reformer’ who once served as the mayor of Varad. Another noteworthy relation is Manohar’s daughter, Shubhada, Leo’s first cousin, who is a renowned traditional dancer and television newsreader in India. Shubhada has travelled the world performing Odissi dancing and has inspired people with her story of overcoming a serious cancer scare to continue dancing.

         But in the 1960s, Ashok was the only Varadkar sibling who had ambitions beyond Mumbai. The rest of the family were happy to settle and raise their families in India while they waited for him to return. It would be more than eight years before Ashok walked on Indian soil again. And when he did, he was not alone.

         
            * * *

         

         Almost 8,000 kilometres from Mumbai, in a rural market town in the south-east of Ireland, Miriam Howell was born in the late 1940s. Miriam was the daughter of Thomas and Monica (née Whelan), who made Dungarvan in County Waterford their home. She had two siblings, older brother John and younger sister Cora.

         Thomas Howell was your typical grafter who tried his hand at several trades before dedicating himself to the land. He started off as a publican and also operated a small haulage business which would see him transport crops to and from the marts for local farmers. Eventually, he saved up enough money to purchase a few acres of land and began planting crops. Once the land started producing a decent living, Thomas closed down the other businesses and focused solely on the farm.

         While he was working the land and providing for his family, Monica was in charge of the home, like most women in Ireland at the time. She cooked, cleaned and looked after the farm’s accounts. She was front of house while Thomas handled the manual labour. The dynamic between the couple was one that would be shared by Miriam and her husband many years later.

         The Howell family enjoyed life in their coastal home town overlooking the Celtic Sea. During the good weather, they spent time on the beach and mingled among the locals and tourists in the seafront shops along Dungarvan Harbour. A modest family, they enjoyed the simple things. Monica is now in her ninety-second year and lives in a nursing home. Thomas passed away in 2005. His death has had a lasting impact on both the Howell and Varadkar families.

         As Minister for Transport, Leo Varadkar sometimes spoke about a tragic accident that influenced his views on road safety. When speaking about motoring legislation, Leo would make reference to the loss of a relative in a road accident. He never went into detail or discussed personal aspects of the tragic incident involving his grandfather. That incident, which provokes painful memories for the family, took place when Thomas was returning from a medical visit in nearby County Carlow. In early June 2005, the 82-year-old was given the all-clear by doctors after a short hospital stay. It was dark outside as the car reached Bagenalstown in the south of the county just before 10.45 p.m. Thomas was in the front passenger seat and Monica sat in the back while their son John drove his parents home. What happened next is something nobody can prepare for when they get behind the wheel of a car.

         Leo’s sister Sonia vividly remembers being told about the freak road traffic accident. ‘He was on his way home after getting a full bill of health from the hospital and a horse jumped out on top of his car,’ she says. ‘My grandad was in the passenger’s seat; my nanna was in the back and my uncle [John] was in the front driving and both of them walked away perfect,’ she adds. The horse had been loose on the road for some time before it came into contact with the Howell family’s car. When the car approached, the animal panicked and jumped on the bonnet of the vehicle. The resulting crash saw the rear-view mirror come loose and hit Thomas in the head. Leo’s grandfather was among six people who died over what the media dubbed ‘a weekend of road carnage’. The untimely and tragic nature of Thomas’s death was very difficult for his family. Leo used the painful experience to better his understanding of the trauma felt by relatives of those killed on the road.

         Several decades earlier, Thomas’s daughter Miriam, then just eighteen, decided to leave Dungarvan to pursue a physiotherapy career in Dublin. She packed some belongings into a suitcase and said goodbye to her parents and siblings before getting the train to the capital. Miriam enrolled in a course at Trinity College, where she made good friends. But she did not take to the training. She stuck it out for a year before deciding to change direction and applied for a nursing course in the UK. 

         In February 1967, Miriam once again said goodbye to her family and boarded a ferry bound for England. Emigrating was a way of life in 1960s Ireland – a place where job opportunities for people like Miriam were hard to come by. Young men and women regularly made the short journey across the Irish Sea in search of a better life. There was plenty of construction work for men, and British hospitals were crying out for nurses. By the 1970s, almost 12 per cent of all nurses in British hospitals were Irish women.

         Miriam took up a position in Wexham Park Hospital in Slough, just 35 kilometres from the centre of London. Not long after she started working, she met a handsome doctor from India who was eight years her senior. Miriam’s daughter Sonia says her mother regularly recounts how she first met her future husband in a busy accident and emergency ward as they both tended to a severely ill child. ‘Mum talks about this all the time. She would have seen him in the distance but met him properly in casualty. There was a very sick kid because Dad was a paediatrician and they had to transfer the little child from casualty up to the wards and that’s how they met,’ Sonia says.

         Ashok and Miriam soon started dating and romance blossomed in between shifts at the busy town centre hospital. Three years later, the couple were married in a Catholic ceremony in St Peter’s Church in Maidenhead, just outside London. Coincidently, the church is in Prime Minister Theresa May’s constituency and is well-known to the Conservative Party leader. Little did the Varadkars know that one day in the distant future their only son would be working closely with the head of the British government. At the time, Ashok considered himself a supporter of the UK Labour Party, which was then led by Harold Wilson.

         Not long after the wedding, the young couple moved to London, where Ashok continued to work as a paediatrician. In 1971, Ashok and Miriam welcomed their first child, Sophie, into the world. Miriam didn’t have a family network in England, so she stayed at home and looked after her daughter while Ashok pursued his career in medicine.

         Ashok and Miriam were deeply in love. They had settled well in London, where their daughter Sophie was growing up. But something just wasn’t right for the newlyweds. They were homesick and both longed to return to their families. But would Miriam, a young girl from a rural Irish town, be prepared to drop everything and make the 9,000-kilometre trip to India?

      

   


   
      

         
            CHAPTER 2

            BEING AN OUTSIDER

         

         Life had been good in England for the Varadkar family. But the desire to return to India proved too strong for Ashok. He pined for his home country. He missed his family and friends. But, above all, he wanted to show off his new Irish bride and daughter. In 1973, following some long discussions, Ashok convinced Miriam to leave Europe behind and travel with him to India, with a view to starting a new life.

         Work was easy to come by for a doctor of Ashok’s experience and he soon landed a position with one of the big hospital groups in Mumbai. But Miriam was still in her early twenties. For a young Irish woman, trying to settle in India was a difficult task. She was thousands of miles away from her family and living in a country with a culture that was alien compared to what she was used to growing up. As the Varadkar family tell it, everything was done to help Miriam become accustomed to her new life in India. ‘They were very well looked after by all their Indian friends, but Mum was very young so found it difficult,’ her daughter Sonia says.

         The sense of homesickness coupled with the struggle to get used to the Indian culture soon prompted Ashok and  Miriam to make a judgement call. Miriam’s mother Monica managed to source a job for Ashok in Ireland and convinced him to bring her daughter and granddaughter home. Ashok wanted the best for his family so, for the second time, he said goodbye to his brothers and sisters and boarded a jet bound for the west. Following their arrival in Ireland, the Varadkars rented a house in Templeogue in South Dublin before moving to Blanchardstown in the north-west of the capital. Ashok was never short of employment. He worked as a paediatrician in a number of hospitals including Our Lady of Lourdes in Louth, the National Children’s Hospital and the Rotunda Maternity Hospital in Dublin.

         In 1975, Miriam gave birth to their second daughter, Sonia. Four years later, on 18 January 1979, Leo was born in the Rotunda Hospital. Sonia describes her little brother as a ‘perfect baby’ who was obsessed over by his mother and sisters. ‘Leo was such a gorgeous kid. He never cried. He didn’t have to because we doted on him totally and utterly,’ she says. However, the future Taoiseach did have one method for getting the attention of his sisters. ‘In his cot was a little yellow chicken and whenever he wanted something, instead of crying, he used to shake it and we would all come running,’ Sonia remembers.

         In an interview with the Sunday Independent, Ashok said he was ‘very excited’ when his only son was born. Miriam noted in the same interview that ‘when he cried, his two sisters would cry’. Ashok added, ‘They used to make him cry sometimes by singing “Where’s your mama gone?” [from a song made popular by Scottish band Middle of the Road in the 1970s].’

         As small children, Leo and Sonia shared a bedroom. Sonia, despite being the elder of the pair, would insist on her younger brother reading Enid Blyton and Roald Dahl stories to her before they went to sleep each night. Leo, who was a keen  reader from an early age, would duly oblige. ‘Leo always used to read to me. It was wonderful. I’m so lazy, so Leo used to read books to me every night,’ she says.

         Growing up just four years apart, Leo and Sonia share many similar traits. Both are direct and inquisitive by nature but awkward in new company. However, they could also be very different. As a child, Sonia was adventurous and mischievous, while Leo was serious and studious, even a bit of a smart alec at times. ‘My memories growing up would have been of the Eurovision Song Contest – me dancing and singing while Leo sat there drawing his flags and writing his countries and their politics, the whole lot,’ Sonia recalls.

         Once they bought their first house in Blanchardstown, the Varadkar family home doubled up as a GP surgery. Ashok struggled to gain a consultant position in the Irish hospital system and decided to try his hand at general practice. With Miriam working as the practice manager and nurse, they converted the garage of their first home into a surgery. In an interview for this book, Leo remembers how his mother handled the business side of the operation while his father tended to the patients. ‘Mum really kind of ran the show. A nurse by training so she was the practice nurse, accountant and receptionist,’ he says. The entire house was taken over by the practice: the garage was the surgery, the sitting room was the waiting area and the kitchen was the office where Miriam would look after the books and accounts. ‘You’d have patients coming to the front door and they would sit in our sitting room. The sitting room was the waiting room, which wasn’t great in a lot of ways because we couldn’t really watch TV,’ Leo says.

         Every now and then, the children would be asked to help out in the office or with cleaning the waiting room. Sophie, Leo’s eldest sister, whom he called his ‘little mother’ as a child, often  accompanied Ashok on house calls and was rewarded with £5 for her efforts. As she grew older, Sonia would help out with the kitchen duties when her mother was busy with the practice. ‘We’d all come home and Mum would be working so I’d make the dinner and if she was in with Dad I’d answer the door. Leo would be doing his homework on the kitchen table while all this was going on. It was just part of opening a business,’ Sonia remembers.

         Mealtime was important in the Varadkar household and Miriam insisted the family dine together. When dinner time arrived, she would stick her head out the front door and call in her children, who were playing with friends in the housing estate. Leo and his sisters would instantly stop what they were doing, say their goodbyes and trundle home. It was an important family tradition that ensured problems were shared and allowed otherwise busy parents to find out what was going on in their children’s lives. Sonia says:

         
            You’d know if everyone was OK, if everyone is in a happy place, or if something is annoying somebody you’d spot it across the table and you’d chat about that. We talked about everything that was going on in school and everything that was going on on the road and everything else.

         

         Leo wasn’t always as forthcoming as his sisters when it came to opening up. One evening, when he was at secondary school, he shocked his family when he told them he had almost drowned two weeks earlier in a canoeing accident. The school had organised for students to be given canoeing lessons in the school’s swimming pool. Leo’s canoe capsized during the lesson and he had to be rescued by a lifeguard. It was a minor incident and there was no need for the emergency services to be called. But he  didn’t tell his family about the potentially serious mishap until weeks after the event. While the family were slightly panicked by the idea of Leo struggling underwater, they were more concerned that he had only thought to tell them a fortnight later.

         When Leo was ten years old, the family moved to a bigger house in Blanchardstown. Ashok’s patient list was growing all the time and he decided to build a GP surgery as an extension to the house. Things got busier in the Varadkar household, but the children now had a room where they could watch TV and play with friends.

         Leo was enrolled in St Francis Xavier primary school in Blanchardstown, where former classmates remember him showing a keen interest in politics. ‘Leo was always a bit different. He was always a bit more developed in his intellect than your standard kid would have been,’ recalls schoolfriend Andy Garvey, adding:

         
            He was often top of the class, spelling-wise and all that type of stuff, and his interests would have been different to other kids. Very few kids in primary school would say they want to be Minister for Health when asked what they would want to do when they grow up.

         

         Leo’s mother also remembers her son telling a local shop owner that he hoped to serve in one of the most difficult roles in politics. ‘He said he wanted to be Minister for Health and it was very embarrassing as I think he was only about seven or eight. I was actually shocked,’ she told RTÉ.

         In primary school and on the cul-de-sac where the family lived, Leo and his sisters stood out. As children of an Indian father and Irish mother, they looked different from the other kids. They also had an unusual surname. Leo’s complexion was  darker than that of his sisters, who took after their mother. He was also quite tall for his age and slightly overweight.

         In the 1980s, Ireland was still considered a developing country by international standards and was never the destination of choice for migrants coming from Africa, Asia or even Eastern Europe. The country was also ravaged by an economic recession. Unemployment soared and young Irish people emigrated in their thousands. People didn’t want to come to Ireland. Even the tourism sector struggled due to the violent unrest in Northern Ireland. It was only when the economy bounced back in the mid-to late ’90s that Ireland started to become a multicultural society. For much of Leo’s childhood, it was unusual to see people from other countries in Ireland, let alone from India. However, racism and discrimination were never problems for the Varadkar family. They felt at home in West Dublin and struck up strong friendships with their neighbours. The children mixed well with their peers, and life was very ordinary and simple. From an early age, though, Leo did realise he was different from the other children and, at times, felt like an outsider. ‘Through primary school or secondary school, I always knew I was different. No matter what, you’re the guy with the funny surname and you look different,’ he says. I was always aware I was different and as a kid you just want to fit in. So I wasn’t particularly interested in my Indian background or being half Indian or anything like that because I just wanted to fit in and be like the other kids.’

         The Varadkars were popular in the community and patients would have met the children when they attended appointments in the surgery. Most of Leo’s friends and neighbours were his father’s patients. ‘It would be wrong to say I was subjected to any horrible racism or anything because I really wasn’t and when you are the local GP’s kid it probably is a different experience than suddenly arriving from Syria or something,’ Leo says. 

         
            But definitely it was different. Even though I was brought up Catholic, I was aware that my dad wasn’t and that there would be other religions. I did my confirmation, communion. I didn’t particularly go to mass. Occasionally, but not regularly. But at that time, everybody went to mass. And you’d be in the primary school and the teacher would be talking about what the priest said at mass and I wouldn’t have a clue because I wasn’t there.

         

         To a certain extent, Leo neglected his Indian heritage as an attempt to fit in. He took Hindi lessons as a teenager but for the most part he did not relate to his father’s culture.

         In politics, his background has never been used against him in the heat of political debate. If anything, his unusual name along with his tall, dark and handsome looks have helped him stand out among the crowd when he was campaigning for office. But that is not to say he never suffered abuse or bullying over his Indian ancestral roots. In most primary and secondary schools in Ireland during the ’80s, a mixed-race child would have been the subject of schoolyard taunts and insults. Leo can recall three specific episodes of being targeted by bullies because of his background. While it was not commonplace, the incidents have left a lasting impression on him to this day. ‘It happened so rarely that I can only remember the two or three occasions. But the fact I can remember them speaks for itself,’ he says, adding that one of those incidents involved a teacher and the others involved schoolmates. Leo is reluctant to discuss the racist slur thrown at him by a person who was supposed to be shaping his educational outlook. He even goes as far as to blame himself for the teacher’s comments. ‘I’d prefer not to go into the language because he was not a bad guy at all actually. I think I was misbehaving, acting the pup in class,’ he says. The  incident clearly left a lasting impact on the future Taoiseach and is one of very few topics he is unwilling to discuss further.

         Most of Leo’s friends and family say he was noticeably more advanced than most of his peers throughout primary and secondary school. His interests lay beyond the schoolyard and perhaps his intellect allowed him to brush off any sneering or jeering. He was far from being one of the popular children in school and behind his imposing frame he was awkward and shy as an adolescent. His height meant he towered over most of his classmates, but that didn’t give him added confidence. He was not built for team sports despite his big frame and preferred the study hall over the playing field. Ashok made him play cricket – a sport hugely popular in India – but Leo hated it and played only to keep his father happy.

         Despite his somewhat nerd-like credentials (he was also a big Star Trek fan), he was not a complete loner and had a small but loyal group of friends. ‘I was never kind of popular, either in primary school or secondary school. I was never one of the cool kids or whatever, but I always had friends,’ he says.

         There was an expectation in the Varadkar household that the children would work hard academically and other activities should play second fiddle. ‘Definitely the expectation was around studying hard and being top of the class. It wouldn’t have been getting on the rugby team,’ Leo says. When it came to his studies, Leo was very competitive with his eldest sister Sophie and always wanted to achieve higher grades. Miriam was keen for Sophie to follow in her father’s footsteps and become a doctor. She tried to enrol her daughter in the local secondary school, only to learn the all-girls school did not teach science, which was a requirement for entering medical college.

         ‘My mum was very keen to have Sophie grow up to be a doctor. She went to see the head nun before she was going to  secondary school, and the school, which was an all-girls school, couldn’t offer physics and chemistry,’ Leo says. ‘The head nun suggested to my mum that instead of Sophie becoming a doctor perhaps she should write children’s stories because she is very good at writing stories,’ he adds. Miriam was ‘having none of this’, according to Leo, and decided to look elsewhere.

         One of her friends was sending her children to King’s Hospital boarding school in Palmerstown, which was just a few kilometres away from the Varadkar home in Castleknock. There were closer schools, but Miriam wanted her daughter to have the best education the family could afford. Sophie and, later, Leo both attended the school as day students. Sophie went on to become a doctor but never took over the family practice. Instead, she became a consultant paediatrician and moved to London, where she now works in the internationally renowned Great Ormond Street Hospital. Sonia, meanwhile, went to the all-girls Mount Sackville Secondary School before going on to become a midwife.

         Miriam raised her children as Catholics, so sending two of them to King’s Hospital, which was a Protestant school, presented somewhat of a religious quagmire. Leo and his sisters had both made their Holy Communion and confirmation in the local church. But, as was generally the case in the Varadkar household, medicine won out over faith.

         The Varadkars worked hard for their money, and education was a top priority when it came to the household budget. The school fees would have been less when a young Leo enrolled but currently King’s Hospital charges €7,190 per year for day students.

         Leo was not overly pleased when he learned he was going to King’s Hospital. All of his friends from primary school and a lot of his pals from his neighbourhood were attending Coolmine  Community School in Blanchardstown. ‘If I had been left up to my own devices, I would have just gone to the same school as them,’ Leo says.

         Making friends proved difficult for Leo in his new environment. He struggled to engage with other children his own age and becoming an adolescent brought its own problems. He freely admits he was never confident as a teenager or even into his twenties. ‘I was never trying particularly to be one of the lads. I wasn’t of that personality anyway. Definitely in school I would have been much more shy and reserved,’ he remembers.

         But what he lacked in interpersonal skills he made up for in his studies and exam results. He was always at the top of his class academically and was not afraid to quiz his teachers. He goes as far as describing himself as a ‘swot’ and even a bit of a ‘smartarse’ when it came to questioning teachers during tutorials. Getting lippy occasionally landed him in trouble. But his biggest offence during his schooldays was bringing fireworks, which he had bought in Northern Ireland, into King’s Hospital to sell to his classmates. The would-be border smuggler was caught red-handed and his paraphernalia was confiscated by a teacher.

         Overall, though, he was far from a troublemaker and generally kept his head down and got on with his studies. ‘I was never actually expelled or suspended or anything like that. I insulted a teacher or that sort of thing but never anything huge. Definitely, around fifth or sixth year, I started making more friends and would have gone to nightclubs, underage drinking, that sort of thing,’ he says. Leo’s height and frame made him look a lot older than he was and helped him convince bouncers outside the Vortex nightclub in Dunshaughlin, Co. Meath, to admit him on occasion.

         By his third year of secondary school in King’s Hospital,  Leo had become restless. He was eager to finish up his second-level education and begin university. At the time, most students could complete their secondary school education in five years but in King’s Hospital there was an additional ‘transition year’. Transition year is an optional period between the two main secondary school exams – the Junior Cert and Leaving Cert. It is aimed at giving students practical experience before entering their final two years of schooling. Leo pleaded with his parents to let him move school so he could avoid the additional year. He had his sights set on the Institute of Education on Leeson Street in the city centre. ‘Leo would have been eighteen doing his Leaving Cert and he never wanted to do transition year, ever,’ Sonia says. ‘He hated the thought of it and he said it was the worst year of his life – the year he learned not to study.’

         Transition year might have seemed like as an unnecessary waste of time for young Leo, but it was during this school term that he met an ally who would feature prominently throughout his career in politics. Frances Fitzgerald was a Fine Gael TD (Teachta Dála, a Member of Parliament) for the Dublin South East constituency at the time. Fitzgerald was a former social worker who became chair of the National Women’s Council before entering national politics. Through a family connection, Leo sought out a week’s work experience with Fitzgerald as part of his transition year training. ‘There’s some weird courses of interaction with Frances over the years,’ Leo says.

         
            My parents were friends with her and her husband Michael. And I knew her sons. We’ve known each other for a long time even though we rarely were politically close. We were personally close at a lot of points in time. I did a week in Leinster House with her. At that time, she was an opposition TD. She was the wrong side of John Bruton at the time. He  was the Taoiseach and she had been at the wrong side of that heave. Then I did a week with Susan Denham in the Judge’s Library. Susan’s husband Brian is a paediatrician and he knew my dad.

         

         Then a justice of the Supreme Court, Susan Denham would go on to become Ireland’s first female Chief Justice, while Frances Fitzgerald would serve as Tánaiste under Leo Varadkar and also as Minister for Justice under his predecessor, Enda Kenny.

         Fitzgerald also remembers meeting a ‘very committed’ Leo Varadkar when she took him on for a week’s work experience. ‘What struck me then, first of all and it’s still the case, is that he’s always been a very committed political activist since he was very young,’ Fitzgerald says. ‘He’s had a huge interest in politics, in policy, in ideas and he’s been like that from very young. The other thing that struck me about him … is that he was very intelligent in his approach to things,’ she adds.

         Leo’s educational achievements are noted in two separate locations in King’s Hospital. A framed picture of him hangs alongside other notable past pupils, who went on to become academics and scientists. His name is also etched into a large decorative wooden board in the school’s dining hall in recognition of his final-year Leaving Certificate results.

         Over dinner, while watching television or during long family drives, Miriam, Ashok and the children always discussed medicine. It could be interesting cases, the latest innovations or plans to improve the practice. Naturally, having worked long and hard to establish their business, Leo’s parents hoped one of their offspring would one day take over. By the time Leo was about to enter university, his two sisters were pursuing medical careers. Neither of the Varadkar daughters was interested in general practice, so the focus shifted to Leo. 

         There are conflicting views in the family about what pressure was put on the Varadkars’ only son once he finished secondary school. In an interview during the 2017 Fine Gael leadership campaign, Miriam cast doubt over whether she and her husband had pushed their son into medicine. ‘It’s very difficult in a house when there’s nothing else spoken about but medicine so maybe we did,’ she told RTÉ. Ashok said Leo’s decision to take up medicine ‘came natural to him’ because his father was a GP and his eldest sister had also studied to become a doctor in university. ‘It was natural, we didn’t force him into anything,’ he added.

         Leo, however, insisted his parents, especially his mother, wanted nothing more than for him to study medicine and take over the family business. ‘By the time they retired, it was very well established,’ Leo says of the practice. ‘A well-remunerated position because they built it up for over thirty years. And certainly that’s what they always wanted me to do,’ he adds.

         Leo’s parents would have been equally happy if Sophie or Sonia had taken over the practice, however, as long as it stayed in the family. It was built from the ground up and a lot of the patients in the community had become reliant on the Varadkars for their medical needs. ‘From their point of view, they put so much work into this practice and they would have liked to be able pass it on to one of their kids. Just like somebody would with a family business or family farm or whatever,’ Leo says. ‘I was never sat down and told “You must become a GP and take over this practice.” But I kind of knew that’s what they wanted, particularly my mum,’ he adds.

         But Leo’s interests lay elsewhere.

         From an early age he was inquisitive in nature. He liked to know how things worked, especially when it involved the arms of the state. Newspapers lay scattered across the coffee table  in the waiting room surgery and, as a boy, Leo would often flick through the pages. International events and world affairs always piqued his interest, but so did the more mundane workings of Irish politics.

         Debates on electoral systems are commonplace in university lecture halls or debating societies. They do not generally take place around the kitchen tables between twelve-year-old boys and their fathers. Yet this would be the scene on many nights after dinner in the Varadkar household. Leo would set out the argument for Ireland’s single transferable vote system of proportional representation, while Ashok made the case for Britain’s first-past-the-post regime.

         Leo was fascinated by elections, and the kitchen-table debates fed his hunger for knowledge on politics and society. He had a sponge-like ability to soak up information, and bewildered some of his classmates when he would discuss political issues in the schoolyard. Leo thanks his father for his interest in politics. ‘It probably does come from my dad. Because my dad is interested in politics, although he was never involved in it,’ he says. ‘We would definitely talk about politics at the dinner table. We would be discussing Mikhail Gorbachev and the Ayatollah Khomeini’s war in Iran, Iraq, [former Taoiseach] Charlie Haughey and whatever else was happening in the news,’ he adds.

         While Ashok clearly influenced his political outlook, Leo says they are not particularly close. They would rarely embrace or exchange praise or compliments. It is part cultural and part personality. There are no personal grievances between Leo and his father; they get on fine. Rather, Leo puts it down to Ashok’s traditional view of the father’s role in a household. He says his father saw himself as the provider of the family. He worked hard, earned a good living and ensured his children wanted for  nothing. Leo’s emotional support came from his mother and sisters.

         In an interview for this book, the Taoiseach speaks with remarkable candour about his relationship with his father. ‘We’re not particularly personally close. It’s not that we don’t get on or anything like that,’ Leo says. ‘But he’s of that generation, he’s in his late seventies. He wouldn’t be the kind of modern father. Both his age and because of his Asian background he wouldn’t be touchy-feely, give you a hug or say, “Well done son,”’ he adds. However, there is a sense that Leo would like a stronger bond with his father.

         Friday 2 June 2017 was one of the proudest days of Leo Varadkar’s political career. Amid a sea of colourful campaign posters and cheering supporters, he was hoisted shoulder-high above the crowd as he was officially elected Fine Gael leader. After posing for the obligatory victory photograph, he was returned to the floor of the Round Room in Dublin city centre’s Mansion House venue, where he embraced his mother, father and partner Matthew Barrett. But despite the emotion of the day and the sense of euphoria, Leo still felt awkward receiving his father’s affection. ‘It was a weird experience because when I was elected party leader in the Mansion House, he gave me a hug. I can count on one hand the amount of times that happened,’ he said later.

         There is also an undercurrent of opposing political ideologies between the two Varadkar men. During the Fine Gael leadership campaign, Ashok told Irish Times journalist Miriam Lord that he considered himself a socialist, to which his wife added, ‘A champagne socialist.’ In the same interview, he was asked what advice he would give his son as he prepared to become Taoiseach, and Ashok responded, ‘I want him to look after the most vulnerable … to work for those who need help. He  shouldn’t forget about those people.’ He said his son’s outlook had ‘matured’ since his early years in politics, which saw him criticised for his highly conservative, right-wing views.

         While Leo’s more socially conservative views have softened over time, his stance on economics still sits to the right of the political spectrum. He is quick to dismiss his father’s left-wing credentials and insists Ashok is no more a socialist than he is. Rather, he says his father’s views are lost in cultural translation. ‘You’ve probably seen stuff where he describes himself as a socialist but that’s total rubbish,’ he says.

         
            Again that probably just comes from the Indian background, where seeking independence from Britain was a form of socialism. It’s not that he believes in high taxes or generous welfare, quite the contrary. He’s quite right-wing on those sort of things. Nor the nationalisation of the means of distribution of wealth or any of those sort of things.

         

         However, Ron Elliott, a Varadkar supporter and former patient of Ashok’s practice, says the two men are more similar than they realise. ‘Whether Leo likes it or not, I think his father has had a huge influence on him. There are many traits they share. There are many things about Leo that I think he has inherited from his dad,’ Elliott notes. ‘His mannerisms. The way he [Ashok] would talk to you is very similar to the way Leo would talk to you. It’s not condescending. It’s speaking from a base of knowledge,’ he adds.

         Some of the apparent personal distance between Leo and his father may be down to Ashok’s hard-working nature. Setting up a local GP practice takes a lot of work and there are very few days off. The Varadkar surgery was open six days per week from 9 a.m. to midday and then again from 4 p.m. until 7 p.m.  Once the practice closed for the evening, paperwork had to be filed. Ashok also did house calls and, because the practice was attached to the property, patients often called to the house after hours in times of emergency. It was non-stop. ‘It might be late before they sat down so they were tired, and Dad might have gone out on house calls in the middle of the night. It was tough, tough days,’ Sonia says. ‘Even when Dad stopped doing the house calls at night, people would know, on a Sunday, if they are stuck just knock on the door and he’d see you,’ she adds.

         Overall, the Varadkars had a happy upbringing and are extremely grateful for the opportunities their parents’ hard work afforded them. They are grounded in their outlook and do not give the impression of being driven by money. Always standing out from the crowd proved difficult for Leo, however, and at times he struggled with his ethnic identity.

         But he would soon be forced to tackle a far greater personal challenge. 

      

   


   
      

         
            CHAPTER 3

            POLITICS AND MEDICINE

         

         It was just weeks into the new academic term at Trinity College Dublin. Leo Varadkar stood awkwardly outside the university’s arts building awaiting the start of a Young Fine Gael meeting. In his late teens and slightly overweight, Leo was dressed in a bright red jacket that he would wear throughout his early college days. Aloof and standoffish, Leo tried to strike up a conversation with his fellow freshers.

         One of these students was Mark Finan, who would later become one of Leo’s closest friends and confidantes. Like many others who met Leo early on during his college days, Finan recalls a student who was at best dull and at worst socially inept. ‘He spoke, and he was so boring. There was no liveliness, no charm. Nothing,’ Finan says.

         Averil Power, who herself would go on to embark on a political career, tells of an individual who was extremely shy. ‘He would have been quite quiet. He can be difficult to get to know. But anybody who knew him had a lot of time for him and could see he was a good guy.’ 

         Also introduced to Leo was Lucinda Creighton. Like Leo, Creighton was socially conservative, deeply political and not afraid to speak her mind. She too would soon catch the attention of the Fine Gael talent spotters.

         Finan, Creighton and Varadkar struck up a close friendship during their college days. Along with others, the trio bonded over history, debating and especially politics. They were your typical teenage nerds who quickly found that university, unlike secondary school, caters for all social groups.

         According to Finan, Creighton and Varadkar were ‘like the odd couple’ and shared plenty of arguments and fallings out. ‘They would be all friends one minute and not so friendly the next minute. That was the way in college,’ Finan says. ‘If you have two driven people, and they’re both driven towards the same goal, they are going to unavoidably clash. But their clashes weren’t policy-based, they were personality-based, I think.’

         Friends of Leo and Lucinda say they quickly became feared within Young Fine Gael. They thrived on riling up their opponents during debates. Frank Flannery recalls Leo and Creighton as a lethal force for two politicians who were so young. ‘There was a pair of them in it and they were quite potent.’ Another close friend of the pair, John Paul Phelan, observes, ‘They always had their work done and they gave off an air of invincibility.’

         Averil Power says that while both individuals stood out from the crowd, Leo always had his eye on bigger things than just college politics. ‘They were both very prominent, both of the same generation within Fine Gael. But, I would say, had totally different approaches and different interests.’

         
            * * *

         

          Leo Varadkar was already dabbling in politics before he entered Trinity. At just sixteen, he had attended his first Fine Gael meeting in the upstairs of Myo’s bar in Castleknock full of ideas and gusto. But after a couple of hours listening to constituency bickering, Leo almost decided to give up on politics altogether. ‘The first meeting was bloody awful. A boring branch meeting with forty people complaining about the days of the week,’ Leo says. ‘I didn’t go back again. I only really got involved properly in college, which is completely different because it’s people your own age.’

         Leo had previously flirted with the idea of joining the Progressive Democrats (PDs), a small but effective centre-right party. But, in the end, he opted for Fine Gael, having been attracted to the leadership qualities of John Bruton. At the time, Fine Gael was the lead outfit in a rainbow coalition that also included the Labour Party and Democratic Left. Under Taoiseach Bruton and Labour Party Finance Minister Ruairi Quinn, the coalition managed to stabilise the public finances and produce carefully balanced budgets. Fine Gael was particularly focused on being seen as an economically prudent party. Bruton himself was pro-European and less nationalistic on the Northern Ireland question than his opponents in Fianna Fáil. All this appealed to young Leo’s political outlook.

         Unfortunately for Bruton, the majority of voters were not similarly impressed. In 1997, Fine Gael performed well in the general election; however, the party was outdone by Fianna Fáil, who convinced the electorate to return them to power. Fine Gael was forced to regroup and get used to life in opposition. But Leo now had his foot in the door of a political party and would soon be called to duty.

         
            * * *

         

          For Leo, Trinity College marked the period in his life when he could finally set himself free. For the first time, he was surrounded by academically driven individuals who, like him, had struggled socially in secondary school. He no longer had to pretend to be someone he wasn’t. ‘College was a liberation because I was meeting people very much like me for the first time,’ Leo says. Classmates he tolerated, or despised, became a distant memory and were replaced by a new social circle of friends who shared his interests in politics and law.

         Leo became heavily involved in the Trinity College branch of Young Fine Gael, which was headed for a period by Creighton. He was also elected to the Young Fine Gael national executive, where he served alongside the likes of Creighton, political commentator Elaine Byrne and the future head of the Fine Gael national executive Gerry O’Connell.

         It wasn’t long before Leo would dip his toe into national politics. Aged just twenty, he agreed to put his name forward for the local elections in the Mulhuddart ward in 1999. His potential had been spotted by Joanne Harmon, the party’s then national youth officer. ‘He was just different to most of his peers and stood out early on. He could talk for Ireland about Ireland and had a huge interest in Ireland’s place in the world,’ Harmon says. ‘He was exceptionally bright and he wanted to get into politics for all the right reasons – he wanted to change the world. He never slacked. That appealed to me straight away and he didn’t have any of the baggage of inheriting his politics or doing it because he was expected to for family reasons.’

         Fine Gael knew that running Leo in the Mulhuddart ward was far from the ideal option. Firstly, he was a privileged, well-spoken son of a doctor who was being asked to put his name forward in one of the most working-class parts of Dublin. Leo was better placed to take a seat in Castleknock, where his  family was based, but another candidate, Jane Murphy, had already been selected by Fine Gael to contest that ward. Murphy narrowly missed out on a council seat in a contest dominated by established councillors Joan Burton and Sheila Terry.

         Leo, meanwhile, completely bombed in his first run at electoral politics. He polled a dismal 380 votes and was eliminated on the ninth count behind the Sinn Féin candidate Paul Donnelly. The election proved to be an eye-opener. Leo realised he had approached his first national contest with the wrong attitude. ‘I wasn’t coerced into running. I wanted to do it. Sure I knew everything,’ Leo says sarcastically. ‘Knock on doors and people would be overwhelmed by the brilliance of this twenty-year-old… but they weren’t. I think I would have got elected in Castleknock. Even [if only] by virtue of my dad,’ he admits.

         Mulhuddart was at the time a stronghold for left-wing parties and an area where Fine Gael had no real base. Ron Elliott, who canvassed for Fine Gael in Mulhuddart during the election, says it was an area in which the party could not secure a breakthrough regardless of the candidate. ‘Leo’s vote was around Blanchardstown, around Castleknock. I called to doors up around the Mulhuddart area. It wasn’t just “No”. There was a sheer hostility towards me because I was Fine Gael,’ Elliott remembers. ‘And it was hostility not towards Leo but towards the party at the time.’

         Despite the result, Leo had the experience of an election under his belt and was on the radar locally as an up-and-coming politician. ‘He took his courage in his hand and he stood,’ says Joan Burton.

         
            I would say Leo is somebody who had political ambitions probably from the time he was twelve or fourteen. I would say more than that, he probably had ambitions to be  Taoiseach from that age or younger. In the way other kids wanted to be a fireman or a doctor, I’d say he wanted to be Taoiseach.

         

         Fine Gael General Secretary Tom Curran rejects the suggestion that the party was wrong to field such a young and inexperienced candidate in a ward like Mulhuddart. He says the decision to run the likes of Leo was part of Fine Gael’s strategy of rebuilding. ‘With the 1999 local elections, it became very, very clear to us that we needed to establish a support base for young professional politicians who we believed could in the future make a major impact for Fine Gael,’ Curran recalls. ‘You can’t measure success in terms of one election. Some people have taken several elections to get there; Leo was a case in point. I wouldn’t think it was a mistake, I don’t think so.’

         Despite his defeat, Leo’s willingness to run in Mulhuddart caught the eye of senior party bosses once again. Key strategist Frank Flannery notes, ‘I thought he had balls for running. I immediately thought he was a very serious young fellow.’ Another key strategist at the time, Phil Hogan, says Leo was rewarded for agreeing to bat for the party in difficult circumstances. ‘It would not have been strong, fertile, political ground for Fine Gael at the time,’ according to Hogan. ‘He agreed to go, even though he was a student. That was appreciated at the time. Then he was in a better position in the following local elections to get – I suppose arising from the realignment of the election boundaries – to get more fertile Fine Gael voting ground.’

         Leo’s electoral failure sparked a similar reaction among his friends in college. He was admired for picking himself back up, dusting himself down and setting his sights on the next political challenge. ‘It showed a lot of guts to put himself forward as a student,’ remarks Averil Power. ‘I know people would have  advised him he hadn’t a hope of winning. But that wasn’t necessarily the plan. He was building a long-term future for himself and that’s smart. You could already see those character traits people now associate with Leo were evident a long time ago.’

         Leo quickly asserted himself and became a prominent figure in both Trinity College and Young Fine Gael. But it was the scale of his attacks on the Fianna Fáil-led government that both impressed and alarmed senior figures in his party. In September 2000, Leo led a Young Fine Gael delegation – dressed as chickens – to a protest outside the Dáil. The group generated plenty of media coverage as they goaded Taoiseach Bertie Ahern amid controversy over the withdrawal of his nominee to a top EU post. The Hugh O’Flaherty affair, as it became known, was causing considerable damage to the government. There was deep backbench unrest over Finance Minister Charlie McCreevy’s attempt to fast-track the appointment of the former Supreme Court judge to the post of vice-president of the European Investment Bank (EIB).

         The unrest stemmed from the decision by the judge to resign from the Supreme Court in 1999 after he came under pressure over his role in what was known as the Philip Sheedy affair. This case centred upon Dublin architect Philip Sheedy, who killed young mother Anne Ryan in a high-speed car crash while under the influence of alcohol. A report into the handling of the case was critical of O’Flaherty. Amid allegations of judicial interference in the case, he and another judge resigned. Failure to do so risked leading to impeachment proceedings and the prospect of a constitutional crisis.

         Despite the resignation, McCreevy persisted in his attempts to push through O’Flaherty’s appointment to the EIB. It led to huge tensions within government. O’Flaherty withdrew his nomination on 28 August 2000 after it became clear he  would not get the relevant support from the bank. Young Fine Gael members seized on the controversy. Leo wrote a number of letters to the Irish Times in which he lacerated Fianna Fáil and the PDs over the scandal. ‘The O’Flaherty controversy has demonstrated that old practices and attitudes continue to thrive in the grand old party. Moreover, the Progressive Democrats’ supposed role as the “good guys who’ll keep Fianna Fáil honest” has been called into question once again,’ Leo wrote in one letter.

         But Leo raised eyebrows within the party following the release of a letter to Young Fine Gael members in Trinity, which he sent in his capacity as a member of the officer board of the party’s university branch. The letter stated that the Fine Gael campaign against the proposed appointment ‘exposed the truth about Bertie Ahern, who Charlie Haughey so appropriately described as the “most devious one of all”’. Leo continued, ‘Continuity Fianna Fáil as we called that party hasn’t really changed since Bertie’s mentor was at the helm. Populism, greed for power, an absence of political principles and a fair spattering of corruption remain hallmarks of Fianna Fáil.’

         The issue of Europe and Ireland’s place in the EU would soon see Varadkar’s prominence grow even further. By this point, he had been elected as vice-president of the youth wing of the centre-right, pro-European grouping the European People’s Party (EPP), of which Fine Gael was a member. After Irish voters rejected the Nice Treaty referendum in June 2001, Leo joined forces with a number of fellow college activists in forming Ireland for Europe. The 200-strong organisation was chaired by Ciarán Toland and its officer board included prominent future political and diplomatic figures such as Dara Calleary, Averil Power, Mark Garrett and Adrian Langan. Ireland for Europe was set up following the referendum defeat and  amid growing concern that the public were not convinced by politicians on the issue of the Nice Treaty. ‘We were all frustrated that the politicians had made a bags of the first campaign. We didn’t trust them to go out and communicate with passion,’ says Power, adding:

         
            Leo sees his own reason for being involved in politics as contributing to debate and making a difference and not just going along with the flow. I’m sure at times that hasn’t necessarily endeared him to everybody and it is not necessarily an easy quality in the party political system, where often it is easier to put your head down and just go along with things.

         

         The Ireland for Europe campaign quickly became part of a ground war to secure a victory in the second referendum. The group gained a lot of traction in the media and began signing up trainee barristers and soon-to-be political figures including Leo’s current chief of staff, Brian Murphy. But it wasn’t just a student-led body. The group fed into a wider national campaign that included leading pro-EU figures such as Brigid Laffan, Pat Cox and Garret FitzGerald. Playing a key role in a campaign that had relatively loose structures and rules appealed to Leo. And, unlike in the local elections, this time he was on the side of victory. Nearly eighteen months after the first referendum was defeated, some 63 per cent of the electorate voted in favour of a more integrated Europe.

         Varadkar quickly set his sights on a different political challenge; one that would place him and his close friend Lucinda Creighton on a collision course with the Fine Gael leadership.

         
            * * *

         

          During an early morning session at the Fine Gael Ard Fheis at the Citywest, Leo took to his feet and kicked off a debate that caused tensions. He and Lucinda had spent months hatching a plan to change the way the party leader was elected. Their proposals would give significantly more voting rights to the membership, thus diluting the influence of the Fine Gael parliamentary party. Under their plans, there would also be a leadership election every two years. If adopted, the proposals would represent a major shift in the status quo, which saw the leader elected by secret ballot at a private meeting of TDs, senators and MEPs.

         At senior level, the move by Varadkar and Creighton was likened to a bold power grab by the younger generation of the party. TDs scoffed at the efforts by the pair, whom they saw as being on a crusade to cause mischief. Tom Curran recalls the unease the proposal caused. ‘Suddenly what it meant was a lot of the parliamentary party were going to lose their influence because suddenly, they, behind closed doors, would no longer be choosing the leader,’ Curran says.

         Phil Hogan notes that Leo’s approach to the issue created the impression among some that he and Lucinda were policy troublemakers. ‘He thrived on pushing out the boundaries in relation to his opinion on people or policy,’ Hogan says. ‘I think he thrived on generating some controversy, particularly around policy issues at national conferences and Ard Fheiseanna.’ Senior figures within the party, including former leader Alan Dukes, savaged the plan. He said it would create a ‘uselessly complicated system’. While party leader Michael Noonan did not publicly shoot down the proposal, he was known to be privately opposed to it.

         Leo did get some support from one of his own political mentors, Frances Fitzgerald. ‘You will get a knee-jerk reaction  from the parliamentary party. It may be a bit impractical, but it should be used as a jumping-off point,’ she said at the time.

         Leo insisted that the changes were necessary to democratise Fine Gael. ‘Tony Blair, Charles Kennedy, Iain Duncan Smith, Ruairi Quinn are elected in this way,’ he told the Ard Fheis.

         The party’s overarching body, the Executive Council, sought to kick the issue into touch pending the publication of a report into the matter. Leo labelled the attempts to block his plan as ‘nonsense’. The motion was passed by the Ard Fheis, handing a major victory to the Young Turks.

         
            * * *

         

         Although Varadkar already had a local election run and a successful referendum campaign under his belt, he was still viewed as immature and mischievous. Throughout his college years, Leo lived in his parents’ home in Castleknock and travelled into the city centre each morning by train or bus. It meant socialising and bringing people home after a night out was much more difficult – particularly with parents who put pressure on their children to be academically focused. ‘I would have come out of myself in other ways a bit sooner if I hadn’t been coming home,’ Leo said later.

         Varadkar was a regular at Young Fine Gael social events, many of which he helped organise. Friends remarked on how he would always insist on a mix of good-quality wine and canapés for those in attendance. The nearby restaurant Dunne and Crescenzi was a popular spot for Varadkar and his Fine Gael pals. Some nights on the town were more memorable than others. Members of the tight-knit group remember one particular evening hosted by a former Fine Gael minister. After several glasses of wine and a couple of bottles of beer, Leo went  in search of more alcohol for his friends. He ducked in behind a makeshift bar installed for the event and helped himself to a few bottles of beer. But he was caught red-handed. Just as he was walking off, the minister spotted him and asked what he thought he was doing. Instead of apologising and asking if it was OK to take a beer, Varadkar launched an attack on the minister’s personal political performance. He also got stuck into her party colleagues, some of whom were also at the event. ‘It was carnage. Leo was worse for wear. The minister was not at all pleased and would remark about the incident for years to come,’ says one source present.

         
            * * *

         

         After completing his Leaving Cert exams, in which he secured an above-average 555 points, Leo had opted to study law. But just two weeks into his degree, he received notification that his points for college had been upgraded. This meant he had the option of switching degrees from law to medicine. He could now follow his father Ashok into general practice medicine.

         However, Varadkar still wonders whether he should have turned down the option of medicine and gone on to practice law. ‘I’ll never know if it was the right decision,’ he says. ‘I always think people make these decisions far too young. Who the hell knows when they are eighteen what they want to do?’ As his medicine degree progressed, Leo had further doubts about his career choice. ‘To be honest, I was a lousy medical student. I did the bare minimum, failed one or two exams along the way and had to repeat them,’ he says.

         
            It wasn’t that I wasn’t able to do it. It probably wasn’t really the course I wanted to do. I was quite a lazy student, which  is quite different to what I demand of people now. I certainly wasn’t getting up early in the morning to make my first lectures or anything like that. So, it really was because I wasn’t fully committed to the course.

         

         Friends also thought medicine was out of sync with Leo’s personality. After all, he was standoffish and was not particularly personable with patients. But he possessed a photographic memory, which led others to believe he didn’t need to push himself hard academically to succeed. ‘He has a huge brain. Trinity was no problem to him,’ a close friend remembers.

         
            When he was finishing his med [studies], he failed an exam. He was in shock. It had never happened to him before. He didn’t have to study really because he just absorbs it. I think Trinity wasn’t that big a deal for him. He got to do a lot of the politics.

         

         Eventually, Varadkar and his fellow medical students were sent out into the country’s hospitals on work placement. Here, he experienced the many complicated issues that have plagued the Irish health service to this day. Despite being socially awkward, his straight-talking approach to patients made him stand out. He learned how to explain complex medical situations in simple terms. It was an approach he believes has served him well since graduation.

         Leo moved to Wexford Town in his fourth year of university, where he rented a room from another hospital worker. It was the first time he had found himself living away from his parents. But he also worked extremely long hours. During later work placements in Crumlin and Beaumont Hospitals in Dublin, he was faced with the everyday realities of hospital medicine. No matter  how hard you work, sometimes patients don’t make it. Watching patients pass away while in his care deeply affected him, but he forced himself to move on and focus on the next person who needed his attention. ‘Those things can’t not affect you. But then you also know as a doctor, you kind of have to suck it up,’ Leo says.

         
            Sometimes it was good training for politics in a lot of ways. It teaches you to compartmentalise. So you’re dealing with the dying patient and then you’re dealing with the person who is not that sick at all five minutes later and they still deserve your full attention. It does teach you to be able to compartmentalise problems and issues.

         

         Leo also picked up another skill during his medical training: how to uncover a hidden agenda.

         
            It’s about looking for that hidden agenda because patients often come in with one problem but it’s not the real problem underlying that. They may have headaches but they don’t need paracetamol. So you have to get the full story. It could be a brain tumour, it could be exhaustion, it could be stress.

         

         
            * * *

         

         Leo’s Trinity days came during the late ’90s and early noughties – the heyday for Bertie Ahern’s Fianna Fáil. This period fell in between the middle of then Finance Minister Charlie McCreevy’s seven consecutive budgets. Fianna Fáil’s mantra at the time was, in effect, ‘There’s something for everybody.’ Ireland was booming economically as the country glided comfortably through the period known as the ‘Celtic Tiger’. Leo’s generation constantly heard politicians talk of tax cuts and giveaway  budgets. Those who knew Leo in college say he regularly expressed concern about this sort of ‘one for everyone in the audience’-style politics. Instead, he believed in rewarding people who went out and worked – not those who were comfortably living on welfare.

         His arguments against a welfare state led to accusations that Leo was right-wing. Often, over wine, friends of Leo’s joked that he would one day be assassinated due to his views. ‘There is very little filter in him,’ Mark Finan says. ‘And certainly, I’ve been with people who wouldn’t know Leo in a social engagement and he would say something and the person would get either offended or shocked because they wouldn’t be used to his straight talking or wouldn’t know whether to take him seriously or not.’

         Although Leo was enjoying his newfound college freedom, he soon discovered the drawbacks of the typical student lifestyle. Having arrived at Trinity weighing around 90kg (14 stone), he quickly piled on the weight. Friends of Leo say his struggle with his weight undermined his self-esteem. They remember that he blamed his weight gains on eating too much Indian food. ‘He blames his mother’s cooking,’ remarks one friend. Leo admits that he lived what he described as a ‘sedentary’ lifestyle of fastfood dinners and a lack of exercise:

         
            In college, I would have been fat, like. I say I couldn’t run 2x100 [metres]. Whereas other people might have gone to the GAA [Gaelic Athletic Association] on Sunday morning or gone to do something active as a family, we would drive over to Deansgrange for this great Indian restaurant and have lunch there and go lie down. So it was very much a sedentary kind of lifestyle, which I now see my sisters are revolting against…

         

          Even during his first elections, senior Fine Gael figures say Leo was anxious about how he would appear on posters. ‘He was extremely image-conscious and worried about being viewed as fat and unhealthy,’ says one party figure.

         But the issue of weight and image was trumped by a far greater anxiety: sexuality. From the start of his third-level studies, Leo didn’t show interest in any type of relationship. With his focus on politics and college activities, he wasn’t prepared to talk about his sexuality. Not only wasn’t he prepared to talk about it, he was in denial himself that he was attracted to men.





OEBPS/title_image_online.png
LEO VARADKAR - A VERY MODERN TAOISEACH

LEO

PHILIP RYAN AND
NIALL O'CONNOR

\B"\

Biteback Publishing





OEBPS/9781785903724_cover_epub.jpg
LEO VARADKAR - A VERY MODERN TAOISEACH

PHILIP RYAN AND
NIALL O'CONNOR






